### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# **RECEIVED** 01-20-2015

### COURT OF APPEALS

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP000276-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHARLES RAY STEWART,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED ON DECEMBER 14, 2012, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN, THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTROM, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE, PRESIDING,

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

PAUL G. BONNESON Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1015400 631 N. Mayfair Road Wauwatosa, WI 53226 (414) 771-8723

##

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the trial court erroneously decide to not suppress the items found by the police in Stewart's residence because the plain view doctrine applied?

Trial Court answered: No.

2. Did the trial court erroneously decide to not suppress the items found by the police in Stewart's residence because the community caretaker—emergency doctrine applied?

Trial Court answered: No.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Stewart contends that oral argument is not necessary as the issue raised in this appeal can be adequately addressed in the briefs. Publication will be necessary to provide guidance to the circuit courts and law enforcement as to whether the police can use the plain view doctrine where there is no probable cause and where there was no consent to search and whether the emergency doctrine can be used even if there is no danger to losing evidence.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began when the state filed a criminal complaint against Stewart on December 3, 2011, in Milwaukee County Case No. 2011CF005786, alleging in count 1 that, between 2007 and November, 2011, Stewart had committed repeated sexual assault of a child, contrary to secs. 948.02(1) and 948.025(1)(b), Wis. Stats., and alleging in count 2 that, between 2007 and November, 2011, Stewart had committed physical abuse of

a child, contrary to sec. 948.03(2)(b), Wis. Statutes. (2: 1)

An initial appearance occurred on December 3, 2011. (41: 1-6). On December 12, 2011, a preliminary hearing occurred and Stewart was ordered bound over for trial. (42: 1-13) The State filed an information on December 12, 2011, that alleged the same offenses as in the criminal complaint. (4: 1) Stewart entered a not guilty plea to that charge on December 12, 2011. (42: 12)

On March 2, 2012, Stewart's counsel filed a motion to suppress the search of his residence and a brief in support of the motion. (13: 1-2) (14: 1-8) The State filed a response on October 3, 2012, to that motion to suppress. (24: 1-5) On September 7 and 21, 2012, and October 5, 2012, the circuit court held motion hearings on Stewart's motion to suppress the evidence seized by the police at his home. (50, 51, 52) The circuit court denied the motion on October 5, 2012. (52: 36-37)

On October 22, 2014, Stewart entered a guilty plea. (53: 1-39) On December 13, 2012, the sentencing hearing occurred. (54: 1-46) The court sentenced Stewart to a total of 15 years initial confinement in prison and 10 years extended supervision. (54: 41)

On February 3, 2014, a notice of appeal was filed with the trial court. (39: 1-3)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Stewart's minor daughter informed the Milwaukee police that Stewart had been allegedly sexually assaulting her. (50: 40) Milwaukee police officer Daniel Keller ("Keller") testified that he and other officers went, on November 28, 2011, to 4043 North 24<sup>th</sup> place in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, to arrest Stewart at his residence. (50: 13-14) Stewart was arrested outside of his home in the front yard. (50: 14) The police placed Stewart in handcuffs and the police officers escorted Stewart into his home at his request because he did not want his neighbors to see what was happening and because he needed to place his dog into his bedroom. (50: 17)

Keller testified that Stewart wanted to put his dog inside of his bedroom so that the dog would not be aggressive with the police officers. (50: 17) The police allowed Stewart to open his bedroom door, place the dog in

his room and then close the door. (50: 18) MADACC arrived at Stewart's home and they removed the dog form Stewart's home. (50: 19)

Detective Tammy Trammel-McClain ("Trammel-McClain") testified that Stewart's bedroom was off the living room as soon as a person came up the stairs from the front door. (51: 4) There was a small hallway where there is a second door to his bedroom. (51: 4) That second door to his bedroom goes into the small hallway and his daughter's bedroom was across from that hallway. (51: 5) She had called MADACC out of concern for Stewart's dog. (51: 5) The dog was in Stewart's bedroom. (51: 5) The bedroom door was closed. (51: 5-6)

Trammel-McClain testified that she did a "cursory" search of Stewart's residence and that she "was just there for bedding." (51: 7) She took bedding from Stewart's bed and bedding from his daughter's bedding. (51: 8) She was aware that his daughter described the bedding was on each bed where the alleged sexual assaults took place. (51: 15) She admitted that she believed that there may be DNA on the bedding and it may be of evidentiary value and could

also be evidence since his daughter had stated that the bedding was what she had laid on the alleged sexual assaults took place. (51: 15)

Trammel-McClain admitted that no person told her that she could walk through Stewart's residence to each residence. (51: 16) She went into the bedroom after the dog was gone. (51: 17) She admitted that she went through the residence with a photographer and collected evidence after Stewart had been arrested and was gone. (51: 18) She also admitted that she went there to collect evidence to corroborate the alleged victim's story. (51: 19-20)

The circuit court, at an evidentiary hearing on October 5, 2012, decided not to suppress the police search of Stewart's residence. (52: 36-37)

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED STEWART'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE ILLEGAL SEARCH OF STEWART'S APARTMENT.
- A. STEWART SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA BECAUSE THE PLAIN VIEW DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY.

The appellate court upholds a trial court's findings of evidentiary and historical facts unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Angiolo, 186 Wis.2d 488, 494, 520 N.W. 2d 923 (Ct.App. 1994). However, the validity of a search and seizure involves constitutional questions subject to independent appellate review and requires an independent application of the constitutional principles. Id.

Three motion hearings occurred to determine if the search of Stewart's apartment should be suppressed.

Stewart's motion to suppress was denied by the Circuit Court. (52: 36-37) The Circuit Court held that the plain view doctrine and community caretaker-emergency doctrine allowed the police to take possession of the two bed sheets and comforter in this case. (52: 36-37)

The exclusionary rule applies to evidence that is seized as the result of an illegal search or seizure. Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 804-06 (1984). First, the court must determine if there was a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. State v. Whitrock, 161 Wis.2d 960, 970-71, 468 N.W.2d 696, 700 (1991).

A search occurs when the police infringe on an expectation of privacy that society considers reasonable. If there is no infringement, there is no search. <u>United States v. Jacobsen</u>, 463 U.S. 109, 113 (1984).

Under the plain view doctrine, an "object falling within the plain view of an officer who has a right to be in the position to have the view are subject to valid seizure and may be introduced as evidence." State v. Bell, 62
Wis.2d 534, 540, 215 N.W.2d 535, 539 (1974) (emphasis added.) A person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in an item that is in plain view. Horton v. California, 496
U.S. 128, 133 (1990). A seizure following plain view is not the product of a search. Bell, supra, 62 Wis.2d at 540, 215
N.W.2d at 539.

It is a fundamental principal of 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment law that searches and seizures that are made inside a home

without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable. <u>State v.</u> Faust, 274 Wis.2d 183, 682N.W.2d 371.

Stewart was the lawful tenant and occupant of the upper duplex that was searched by the police and had been living there for about a year. It should be noted, therefore, that Stewart had standing the raise the suppression issue.

In State v. Angiolo, 186 Wis.2d 488, 520 N.W.2d 923 (Ct.App. 1993), the Wisconsin Court of Appeals held that four criteria must be met for the plain view doctrine to apply: (1) The officer must have a prior justification for being in the position from which the "plain view" discovery was made; (2) the evidence must be in plain view of the discovering officer; (3) the discovery must be inadvertent; and (4) the item seized, in itself or in itself with facts known to the officer, at the time of the seizure, provides probable cause to believe there is a connection between the evidence and criminal activity. 520 W.W. 2d at 929.

In Angiolo, the police lawfully questioned a suspect and happened to look into his nearby garage with the garage door open. 520 N.W.2d at 926. They observed a professional welding unit that they suspected was probably

stolen, even though they did not have any specific information.

The Court of Appeals held that the evidence had to be suppressed because the police had no basis or information to indicate that the welding unit was in fact stolen property. 520 N.W.2d at 930. The court held that the plain view doctrine does not permit the police to seize evidence without probable cause. <u>Id.</u> at 930-931. The mere possibility that the police thought that the property might be evidence did not justify the seizure without probable cause. <u>Id.</u> at 930.

Here, the State cannot meet two of the last four criteria. The police were in Stewart's residence to arrest him and seize evidence. Transmell-McClain admitted in her testimony that she was there to seize the bedding to corroborate the alleged victim's story and to obtain DNA. (51: 19-20) She intentionally went into other rooms in Stewart's residence to look for evidence and it was an intentional search and was <u>not</u> inadvertent. This factor, therefore, has not been satisfied.

Regarding the fourth factor, this factor is also not

satisfied. There is no connection between the bed sheets, a comforter and the alleged sexual assault in this case. It would be very speculative to assert that there is a connection. It would be possible for the police to guess that various bodily fluids had touched or fallen on the sheets or comforter and that there might be DNA in the fabric. But such an argument would be speculative and would not have be easily apparent and would be insufficient to support probable cause.

A final reason why the plain view doctrine does not apply here is that the police did not have a right to go into the bedrooms of Stewart's residence. An officer must have the right to be present where the plain view of the item occurred. State v. Bell, 62 Wis.2d 534, 540. Moreover, Stewart never consented to the police going down the hall and into the bedroom where the alleged victim's bed sheets and comforter were located. The trial court decided, without any legal authority, that the police could go into both bedrooms without Stewart's consent. (52: 36-37) This is an erroneous conclusion of law and should be revered.

B. STEWART SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA SINCE THE COMMUNITY CARETAKER\
EMERGENCY DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY HERE.

The State argued in the trial court that the community caretaker—emergency doctrine applies to this case. The State argued that this case involved a valid exigency that did not require a warrant. <a href="State v. Ferguson">State v. Ferguson</a>, 629 N.W.2d 788, 792 (Ct. App. 2001).

The emergency doctrine has been defined in Wisconsin as follows:

Law enforcement officers may enter private premises without either an arrest or a search warrant to preserve life or property, to render first aid and assistance, or to conduct a general inquiry into an unsolved crime, provided they have reasonable grounds to believe that there is an urgent need for such assistance and protective action, or to promptly launch a criminal investigation involving a substantial threat of imminent danger to either life, health, or property, and provided, further, that they do not enter with an accompanying intent to either arrest or search. <a href="State v. Bauer">State v. Bauer</a>, 127 Wis.2d 401, 379 N.W.2d 895, 898 (Ct. App. 1985).

There is a two-step analysis for determining when the emergency doctrine justifies a warrantless search or seizure. First, the searching officer must be motivated by a perceived need to

render aid or assistance. Second, it must be found that a reasonable person under the circumstances would have thought an emergency existed. <u>State v. Boggess</u>, 115 Wis.2d 443, 340 N.W.2d 516, 521 (1983).

The State argued in this case that the police were concerned that, after Stewart was arrested, there would be no person available to care for his dog and that this issue justified the search. (24: 2-3) This argument has no merit.

The police called MADACC to come and care for the dog.

There is no connection, however, between the need for assistance for the dog and the search that the police conducted and the taking of the bed sheets. There was no emergency regarding the bed sheets—only the dog. Therefore, the second factor of the emergency doctrine is not satisfied here.

Further, Trammel-McClain admitted in her testimony that she was there to seize the bedding to corroborate the alleged victim's story and to obtain possible DNA. (51: 19-20) State v. Bauer, however, makes it clear that the emergency doctrine exception only applies where there was no intent to search by the police. 379 N.W. 2d at 898. Therefore, this doctrine is inapplicable to this case.

Further, the police had arrested Stewart and there was

plenty of time for the police to obtain a search warrant before

Stewart could have returned to his residence and destroyed of any
evidence. Stewart could not, therefore, have disposed of any
evidence. The community caretaker--emergency doctrine clearly is
inapplicable to the search that occurred in this case.

### **CONCLUSION**

For all the reasons set forth above, undersigned counsel respectfully requests that this court enter an order vacating the judgment of conviction and reversing the order denying the motion to suppress in this case and order that Stewart be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea.