RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-21-2015

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP276-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHARLES RAY STEWART,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTROM, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Among the accepted exceptions to the warrant requirement is the "community caretaker" exception. *Cady* v. *Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433, 441 (1973) (establishing the

exception); *Bies v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 457, 471-72, 251 N.W.2d 461 (1977) (adopting the exception in Wisconsin); *see also Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶13-27, *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶¶ 19-20, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598.

The basic test for applying the community caretaker exception to the warrantless seizure of a person or warrantless search of a residence⁴ consists of three requirements: (1) that a seizure or search within the meaning of the fourth amendment has occurred; (2) if so, that the police conduct was bona fide community caretaker activity; and (3) if so, the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual. *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 21. "The State bears the burden of proving that the officer's conduct fell within the scope of a reasonable community caretaker function." *Id.*, ¶ 17.

As relevant to the second step, the bona-fide-community-caretaker-activity requirement, the United States Supreme Court explained that the police activity should be "totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." *Cady*, 413 U.S. at 441. Addressing the meaning of "totally divorced," however, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has clarified that, if the totality of the circumstances support an objectively reasonable basis for police activity under the community caretaker exception, an officer's subjective law enforcement concerns will not automatically render the police activity unlawful:

⁴ Here, the police presence in the residence is treated as a "search" under the case law. *See, e.g., State v. Ziedonis*, 2005 WI App 249, \P 14-16, 287 Wis. 2d 831, 707 N.W.2d 565.

When evaluating whether a community caretaker function is bona fide, we examine the totality of the circumstances as they existed at the time of the police conduct. . . . In doing so, we conclude that the "totally divorced" language from Cady does not mean that if the police officer has any subjective law enforcement concerns, he cannot be engaging in a valid community caretaker function. Rather, we conclude that in a community caretaker context, when under the totality of the circumstances an objectively reasonable basis for the community caretaker function is shown, determination is not negated by the officer's subjective law enforcement concerns.

Kramer, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 30.

"[W]hen a search or seizure is not supported by probable cause or reasonable suspicion and it is contended that the reasonableness of police conduct stands on other footing [such as "community caretaker" activity], an officer's subjective motivation is a factor that may warrant consideration." Id., ¶ 27 (brackets added). In effect, "while the subjective intent of the officer may be relevant, it is not dispositive, constituting merely one factor among many to be considered in the totality of the circumstances." Id., ¶ 25.

In short, so long as a law-enforcement officer "has articulated an objectively reasonable basis under the totality of the circumstances for the community caretaker function, he [or she] has met the standard of acting as a bona fide community caretaker, whose community caretaker function is totally divorced from law enforcement functions." Id., ¶ 36 (brackets added).

Finally, in addressing the balancing test in the third step, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion, courts may consider the following factors: "(1) the degree of the public interest and exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure [or search], including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished."

Id., ¶ 41 (citations omitted).

b. The plain view doctrine.

A person "has no reasonable expectation of privacy in an item that is in plain view." *State v. Edgeberg*, 188 Wis. 2d 339, 345, 524 N.W.2d 911 (Ct. App. 1994); *see also Horton v. California*, 496 U.S. 128, 133 (1990).

Under this plain view doctrine, "objects falling within the plain view of an officer who has a right to be in the position to have the view are subject to valid seizure and may be introduced in evidence." *Edgeberg*, 188 Wis. 2d at 345 (citation omitted). A law enforcement seizure of evidence following a "plain view" is "not the product of a search." *Id*.

To satisfy the plain view exception to the warrant requirement, a law enforcement seizure of evidence must meet three requirements:

"(1) the evidence must be in plain view; (2) the officer must have a prior justification for being in the position from which she discovers the evidence in "plain view"; and (3) the evidence seized 'in itself or in itself with facts known to the officer at the time of the seizure, [must provide] probable cause to believe there is a connection between the evidence and criminal activity."

State v. Buchanan, 2011 WI 49, ¶ 23, 334 Wis. 2d 379, 398-99, 799 N.W.2d 775 (citations omitted).

Previously, the plain view doctrine also required that the discovery of the seized item be inadvertent. See, e.g. Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 469 (1971). But the United States Supreme Court eliminated the inadvertence requirement in Horton, 496 U.S. at 136-37, and, two years later, the Wisconsin Supreme Court, adopting Horton, expressly dropped the same requirement in State v. Guy, 172 Wis. 2d 86, 101, 492 N.W.2d 311 (1992).

As with any determination of whether evidence was constitutionally seized, the appellate court must uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous, and independently determine whether the constitutional standard of reasonableness is satisfied. *Bies v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 457, 467, 251 N.W.2d 461 (1977).

⁵ On occasion, Wisconsin courts have mistakenly provided the pre-Horton/pre-Guy standard when reciting plain-view boilerplate. See e.g. State v. Gracia, 2013 WI 15, ¶ 29 n.14, 345 Wis. 2d 488, 509, 826 N.W.2d 87 (citing State v. McGovern, 77 Wis. 2d 203, 210, 252 N.W.2d 365 (1977)); State v. McGill, 2000 WI 38, ¶ 40, 234 Wis. 2d 560, 609 N.W.2d 795 (citing State v. Washington, 134 Wis.2d 108, 123, 396 N.W.2d 156 (1986)). But to revive the inadvertence requirement, the Wisconsin Supreme Court would first need to overrule Guy, then distinguish Horton by construing the search and seizure provisions of the state constitution to provide greater protection than the Fourth Amendment. It has done neither; Guy remains good law.

2. The officers' presence in the apartment was lawful under the community caretaker doctrine, and Stewart fails to present a developed argument showing that it was not.

To address the prior-justification requirement of the plain-view test, the State considers first whether the officers were lawfully present in Stewart's apartment.

Stewart does not dispute that the arresting officers and Detective Tramel-McClain had Stewart's valid consent to be in the apartment after he invited the officers back to his apartment to avoid the public embarrassment of an arrest on his front lawn, and to secure his dog (50:16-17; A-Ap. 55). Stewart's consent would appear to have been valid only for the time in which Stewart was in the apartment with the officers. *Florida v. Jimeno*, 500 U.S. 248, 251-52 (1991) (scope of consent is generally defined by its expressed object). The issue, then, is whether, after the arresting officers removed Stewart from the apartment, officers nonetheless had another valid justification to be present in the apartment.

On appeal, Stewart argues that Detective Tramel-McClain and the I.D. tech were not lawfully present in the apartment under the "community caretaker/emergency doctrine," then analyzes the officers' conduct under the emergency doctrine only (Stewart's Br. at 12-14).

The State elects not defend the officers' actions under the emergency doctrine, which is analytically distinct from the community caretaker doctrine.⁶ The former, unlike the latter, prohibits an officer's warrantless presence in a residence in exercise of the emergency function if he or she intended to conduct a search or seizure, *State v. Bauer*, 127 Wis. 2d 401, 407-408, 379 N.W.2d 895 (Ct. App. 1985), and Detective Tramel-McClain's testimony shows that she subjectively intended to seize evidence of the alleged child sexual assaults in the apartment (51:7; A-Ap. 96).

Addressing only whether the detective's presence was lawful under the emergency doctrine, Stewart fails to provide the relevant legal test for the community caretaker exception, or to apply the facts of his case to that standard—even though the circuit court concluded the detective's presence was lawful on community caretaker grounds (Stewart's Br. at 12-14) (52:5; A-Ap. 131). Accordingly, this court may treat Stewart's failure to adequately brief the point as a concession. See State v. Flynn, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 39 n.2, 58, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994) (appellate court

⁶ The Wisconsin Supreme Court has defined the emergency doctrine as follows:

[&]quot;Law enforcement officers may enter private premises without either an arrest or a search warrant to preserve life or property, to render first aid and assistance, or to conduct a general inquiry into an unsolved crime, provided they have reasonable grounds to believe that there is an urgent need for such assistance and protective action, or to promptly launch a criminal investigation involving a substantial threat of imminent danger to either life, health, or property, and provided, further, that they do not enter with an accompanying intent to either arrest or search."

State v. Kraimer, 99 Wis. 2d 306, 314, 298 N.W.2d 568, 572 (1980) (citation omitted).

need not address inadequately developed arguments); Schlieper v. State Dep't of Natural Res., 188 Wis. 2d 318, 322, 525 N.W.2d 99 (Ct. App. 1994) ("when an appellant ignores the ground upon which the trial court ruled and raises issues on appeal that do not undertake to refute the trial court's ruling," the appellate court may conclude that the appellant has conceded the matter).

However, even if the court chooses to address the merits of the community caretaker issue despite Stewart's failure to join the issue, the detective and I.D. tech's presence in the apartment was lawful as an exercise of the officers' community caretaking function under the following analysis.

Based on her hearing testimony, the detective articulated an objectively reasonable basis for an exercise of a community caretaker function under the totality of the circumstances, and her acknowledged intent to obtain evidence of the child sexual assaults does not defeat the conclusion that she was engaging in bona fide community caretaker activity. *See Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶¶ 25, 30, 36.

The detective testified that, while Stewart was still in the apartment with the officers, she called Animal Control to have them to provide the dog with shelter (50:44-45; A-Ap. 82-83). She said she called Animal Control because she believed, based on her experience, that Stewart might be in custody a long time before he would be able to return to the apartment (50:45; 51:6; A-Ap. 83, 95). The detective testified she was concerned that the animal could become sick or die

if no one was there to care for it (50:45; A-Ap. 83).⁷ See 3 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure, § 6.6(a) at pp. 612-13 and n.49 (5th ed. 2012) (stating that assistance to a person "or animal" justifies warrantless entry into a residence and listing cases). And so the detective waited in the living room of the apartment with the I.D. technician for Animal Control to arrive (50:19, 31-32; A-Ap. 57, 69-70). While the detective plainly went to Stewart's residence in her investigative function, and hoped to lawfully collect the two sets of bedding if possible, this subjective intent did not render invalid the co-existing community caretaker justification for her presence in the apartment (51:18-19; A-Ap. 107-108).

Applying the balancing-step test required in the third step of the community caretaker doctrine, the State submits that the need and public interest in ensuring the welfare of the dog outweighs the degree of the intrusion. Here, officers were already present in the living room of the apartment pursuant to Stewart's consent, and their presence was extended for a limited time (twenty to twenty-five minutes before the arrival of Animal Control) to ensure that the dog would be cared for while Stewart was in custody (51:14; A-Ap. 103). The testimony establishes that the officers did not conduct a full-blown search of the apartment (51:7; A-Ap. 96). Rather, the detective spotted the two sets of bedding

⁷ The pit bull also had to be removed from the apartment for other reasons related to the criminal investigation. After all, the apartment was a crime scene, and removal of a live animal from a room in which the crimes allegedly occurred—and which police would need to access at some point to collect evidence—was necessary for officer safety and to preserve evidence. The detective appeared to make this point in noting it was also necessary to remove the dog to "secure the house" and not have any "living being" left inside (50:45; A-Ap. 83).

from her lawful vantage point in the shared areas of the apartment (the living room and hallway), and lawfully gathered that evidence (51:29-31; A-Ap. 118-120).8 While the temporary intrusion occurred in the constitutionally-protected space of the home, a proper weighing of the balancing test favors the conclusion that the officers' presence was a lawful exercise of the community caretaking function.

To the extent any objection may be raised to the detective's brief absence and return to the apartment (Stewart raises none), the detective's actions When Animal Control arrived, the detective reasonable. stepped out onto the stairway to the apartment out of a justifiable concern for her own safety; the dog was a pit pull, the detective "wasn't sure of the dog's demeanor" and wanted to "stay out of [the animal technician's] way" (51:13-14; A-Ap. 102-103). In the meantime, the detective learned that Stewart's mother "was outside waiting to speak with someone," and went downstairs to talk with her (51:6; A-Ap. 95). Once the animal technician took control of the dog and walked it down the apartment stairs, the detective went back up to the apartment, and soon spotted the bedding from outside of the bedrooms (51:8, 13-14; 29-31; A-Ap. 97, 102-103, 118-120).

_

⁸ As animal technician was about to take the dog into his truck, "another guy" came up to the technician and ended up taking the dog (51:7; A-Ap. 96). Nothing in the record suggests that the detective knew of anyone else who might take the dog. In fact, Officer Keller testified that he "believe[d] [Stewart] couldn't find anyone to come and take his dog" (50:33; A-Ap. 71).

Regardless the detective's subjective investigatory reason for returning to the apartment, her return was objectively reasonable, and a necessary extension of the community-caretaker reason for her presence. It would be unreasonable to hold that, once the dog was removed, the detective automatically lost all ability to lawfully return to the apartment, even to perform the routine law enforcement task of securing the crime scene where the detective and the I.D. tech were the last officers there.

Stewart argues that the detective's concern for the dog's welfare did not justify the "search," by which he appears to mean the seizure of the bedding, because "[t]here was no emergency regarding the bed sheets—only the dog" (Stewart's Br. at 13). But, of course, the State does not maintain that the seizure of the bedding was justified by the community caretaker doctrine—only that the officers were lawfully present under this doctrine when the bedding was spotted in plain view.

Based on the foregoing, even if this court elects to address the community caretaker issue on the merits, it should conclude that the officers' presence was lawful under the community caretaker doctrine.

3. Both sets of bedding were properly obtained under the plain view exception to the warrant requirement.

Stewart argues that the circuit court erred in admitting both sets of bedding under the plain view doctrine because (1) the discovery of the evidence was not inadvertent, as the detective sought to collect the bedding from the apartment; (2) the connection between the bedding and the alleged crimes was purely "speculative," and the detective lacked probable cause to seize the sheets; (3) the detective did not have a legal right to be present either in the apartment and the location from which the bedding was spotted, or in the bedrooms themselves (Stewart's Br. at 7-11). The State addresses these arguments in turn, and submits that the bedding was properly admitted under the plain view exception.

First, contrary to Stewart's suggestion, the detective's discovery of the two sets of bedding need not have been inadvertent. Rather, under the *Horton/Guy* standard, the detective's acknowledged subjective motivation to collect the bedding from the apartment if it were in plain view is irrelevant. *See Horton*, 496 U.S. at 138 ("The fact that an officer is interested in an item of evidence and fully expects to find it in the course of a search should not invalidate its seizure if the search is confined in area and duration by the terms of a warrant or a valid exception to the warrant requirement.").

Second, the detective's belief that the bedding likely contained DNA evidence of the crime was well-grounded on the facts known to the officer at the time and was not speculative. See Buchanan, 334 Wis. 2d 379, ¶ 23 ("the evidence seized "in itself or in itself with facts known to the officer at the time of the seizure, [must provide] probable cause to believe there is a connection between the evidence and criminal activity."") (citations omitted). The detective was informed by the officer who interviewed the victim that the victim had alleged that Stewart sexually assaulted her every other night for several years in ways that would

produce bodily fluids, and that the assaults occurred on Stewart's bed and on her bed; the victim also provided descriptions of the bedding on each bed. (50:47; 51:15, 29-30; A-Ap. 85, 104, 118-19). Given the specificity of the victim's allegations, and the frequency with which the alleged assaults occurred, the detective had probable cause to believe that the bedding on Stewart's and the victim's beds contained DNA evidence of the alleged assaults.

These facts distinguish Stewart's case from *State v. Angiolo*, 186 Wis. 2d 488, 930, 520 N.W.2d 923 (Ct. App. 1993), and *Arizona v. Hicks*, 480 U.S. 321, 325-27 (1987). In *Angiolo*, this court held that officers did not have probable cause to believe that Angiolo, who was suspected of committing a burglary, had stolen a welding unit that was observed in plain view in his garage where officers had no evidence to connect the welding unit to the burglary. *See Angiolo*, 186 Wis. 2d at 930-31. Likewise, in *Hicks*, 480 U.S. at 325-27, the Supreme Court held invalid a seizure of stereo equipment spotted in plain view where officers had only reasonable suspicion to believe the equipment was stolen, and only acquired probable cause by turning the equipment to read its serial numbers.

Here, the strength of the victim's account provided probable cause to believe that the bedding contained inculpatory biological evidence. While DNA testing was of course necessary to confirm the existence of biological evidence, no such testing was required for the detective to reach the common-sense conclusion that the bedding probably contained this evidence.

Third, as discussed in the prior section, officers had a legal right to be present in the apartment under the community caretaker doctrine. More specifically, the officers were lawfully present in the shared areas of the home from which Detective Tramel-McClain spotted the bedding on Stewart's and the victim's respective beds. The detective indicated that the animal control technician had left the door to Stewart's bedroom open, and that the bedding on Stewart's bed was visible from the living room, and was similar to the description provided by the victim (51:26, 29-30; A-Ap. 115, 118-19). Moreover, the door the victim's bedroom was open, and the detective indicated that the bedding on the victim's bed was visible from the hallway. (51:26-27, 30-31; A-Ap. 115-16, 119-120). The detective said the victim's bedding matched the description provided by the victim, although the detective could not recall what that description was at the time of the hearing (51:30-31; A-Ap. 119-120). To the extent that review of this issue rests on whether, in fact, the detective spotted the sets of bedding from her respective positions in the living room and then in the hallway, the circuit court implicitly found the detective's to be credible. testimony on this point determination must be upheld on review. State v. Jenkins, 2007 WI 96, ¶ 33, 303 Wis. 2d 157, 736 N.W.2d 24.

Stewart's suggestion that the detective's necessary entry into the bedrooms to seize the bedding renders the seizure illegal is contrary to established law. "A seizure following a plain view is not the product of a search." *Edgeberg*, 188 Wis. 2d at 345. An officer need only be lawfully present in the position from which she saw the property to seize the property, regardless whether the item is located in an otherwise constitutionally-protected space.

See, e.g., State v. Ragsdale, 2004 WI App 178, ¶¶ 16-17, 276 Wis. 2d 52, 687 N.W.2d 785 (seizure of a gun exposed when a child opened a heating vent exposing the gun was permissible under the plain view doctrine); Edgeberg, 188 Wis. 2d at 345-46 (seizure of marijuana plants spotted inside home through a window was lawful under plain view doctrine).

Based on the foregoing, the two sets of bedding were lawfully seized under the plain view doctrine. Accordingly, the circuit court's order denying the motion to suppress should be affirmed, and Stewart's request for a remand order allowing him the opportunity to withdraw his guilty plea should be rejected.

B. Stewart Would Not Be Entitled to Plea Withdrawal Even If the Circuit Court Properly Admitted Only One of the Sets of Bedding Because the Court's Error in Admitting the Other Set Would Be Harmless.

As a general rule, a valid guilty plea waives all nonjurisdictional defects and defenses, including constitutional claims. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 293, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). However, the statutes provide that a defendant convicted pursuant to a valid guilty plea may nonetheless seek review of an order denying a motion to suppress evidence. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.23(10).

Appeals under § 971.23(10) are subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Armstrong*, 225 Wis.2d 121, 122, 591 N.W.2d 604 (1999). "In a guilty plea situation following the denial of a motion to suppress, the test for harmless error on

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